
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 

 

AMERICAN ISLAMIC CENTER,   )   

       ) 

   Plaintiff,   ) 

       ) No.  13 CV 6594 

 v.      )  

       )  

CITY OF DES PLAINES, and JAMES  ) 

BROOKMAN, MICHAEL CHAREWICZ,  ) 

PATRICIA HAUGEBERG, DICK SAYAD, ) 

and MARK WALSTEN,     ) 

in their individual capacities,   ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

         )  

   Defendants.   ) 

 

COMPLAINT 

 

 Plaintiff AMERICAN ISLAMIC CENTER (“AIC”), an Illinois not-for-profit 

corporation, by and through its counsel, Anthony J. Peraica & Associates, Ltd. and Kevin Vodak, 

of Council on American-Islamic Relations, Chicago Chapter (CAIR-Chicago), complaining of 

Defendants, CITY OF DES PLAINES and JAMES BROOKMAN, MICHAEL CHAREWICZ, 

PATRICIA HAUGEBERG, DICK SAYAD, and MARK WALSTEN, in their individual 

capacities, state as follows. 

NATURE OF THE CASE 

 

1. This is an action to enforce Plaintiff’s rights under the First and Fourteenth 

Amendments to the United States Constitution, under the Religious Land Use and 

Institutionalized Persons Act of 2000, 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc et seq., and under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, to 

authorize Plaintiff to use its property within the limits of unincorporated City of Des Plaines for 

religious purposes, namely to conduct prayer services, religious education, and other religious 

services according to the Islamic calendar.  Plaintiff also presents claims pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 
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1983 against certain City of Des Plaines officials in their individual capacities. Plaintiff presents 

additional state law claims, including under the Illinois Religious Freedom Restoration Act and 

statutes authorizing declaratory and injunctive relief. 

2. Plaintiff seeks declaratory relief, mandatory injunctive relief, and damages to 

redress the unlawful conduct and discriminatory practices engaged in by Defendants. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This Court has jurisdiction over the aforementioned federal claims pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1331. The state law claims are so closely related to the federal questions as to create 

supplemental jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). 

4. Venue is proper in this district and division, as the land where Plaintiff seeks to 

conduct its religious activities is in Des Plaines, Illinois, and all of the Defendants reside in this 

district.  See 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1), (2). 

PARTIES 

5. Plaintiff, AIC, is a religious institution incorporated under the Illinois Not-For-

Profit Corporation Act.    

6. Defendant, CITY OF DES PLAINES, is an Illinois municipal corporation and is a 

home rule unit of local government under Illinois law. 

7. Defendant, JAMES BROOKMAN, is a member of the City of Des Plaines City 

Council and is named in his individual capacity. 

8. Defendant, MICHAEL CHAREWICZ, is a member of the City of Des Plaines 

City Council and is named in his individual capacity. 

9. Defendant, PATRICIA HAUGEBERG, is a member of the City of Des Plaines 

City Council and is named in her individual capacity. 
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10. Defendant, DICK SAYAD, a member of the City of Des Plaines City Council and 

is named in his individual capacity. 

11. Defendant, MARK WALSTEN, is a member of the City of Des Plaines City 

Council and is named in his individual capacity.  

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

Zoning Ordinance 

12. The CITY OF DES PLAINES adopted the City of Des Plaines Zoning Ordinance 

(“Zoning Ordinance”), which is incorporated herein by reference in its entirety. (The Zoning 

Ordinance is available online at http://www.desplaines.org/index.aspx?nid=118.) 

13. Des Plaines Zoning Ordinance of 1998 was enacted subject to the provisions of 

Article VII of the 1970 Illinois Constitution, was intended to exercise the rights of the City of 

Des Plaines as a home rule unit pursuant to Article VII, and was further intended to supersede 

the limitations of the Illinois Municipal Code or any other statute or law. 

14. The Subject Property is located within an M-2 general manufacturing district (an 

“M-2 district”). 

15. At all relevant times, pursuant to Section 7.5-1 of the Zoning Ordinance, I-1 

Institutional districts permitted places of worship as a right of property ownership, along with 

other institutional uses, such as hospitals, assisted living facilities, schools, and government 

offices. 

16. The Zoning Ordinance recognizes that amendments to the zoning map should 

occur “in light of changed conditions or changes in public policy.”  Zoning Ordinance § 3.7-1.  

Section 3.7 of the Zoning Ordinance provides the regulations for such zoning map amendments. 
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17. Section 3.7-4(C) of the Zoning Ordinance requires the Plan Commission to hold a 

public hearing with regard to any applications for zoning map amendments and forward its 

recommendations to the City Council within thirty (30) days of said hearing. 

18. Once the Plan Commission tenders its recommendations, the City Council must 

consider the proposed zoning map amendment at the next scheduled public meeting.  The City 

Council has the authority to approve the amendment application, or approve the application with 

modifications, through a duly adopted ordinance.  The City Council also has the authority to 

disapprove the application.  Zoning Ordinance § 3.7-4(D). 

19. The Zoning Ordinance does not require that the City Council issue findings of 

fact when deciding whether to approve or deny a zoning map amendment. 

20. Once the City Council issues its decision on a zoning map amendment, the 

Zoning Ordinance does not afford any further appeal of such a decision. 

21. Pursuant to Section 3.7-5 of the Zoning Ordinance, the City Council has 

discretion to determine whether a zoning map amendment should be granted, without any one 

standard controlling such discretion.  This section, however, states that the City Council should 

consider the following factors in making this determination: 

a. Whether the proposed amendment is consistent with the goals, objectives, and 

policies of the Comprehensive Plan.  

b. Whether the proposed amendment is compatible with the current conditions and 

character of existing developments in the vicinity of the subject property. 

c. Whether the proposed amendment is appropriate considering the adequacy of 

public facilities and services available to the subject property. 
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d. Whether the proposed amendment will have an adverse effect on the value of 

properties throughout the jurisdiction. 

e. Whether the proposed amendment reflects responsible standards for development 

and growth. 

AIC’s Religious and Educational Activities 

22. AIC has been an Illinois Not-For-Profit Corporation since March 2011 and a 

501(c)(3) religious organization since 2013. 

23. AIC has approximately 160 members, most of whom live in the northwest 

suburbs of Chicago, Illinois, a number of whom live in Des Plaines, which is centrally located 

for AIC’s members.  Nearly all of AIC’s members are Bosnian refugees from the 1992-1995 war 

in Bosnia and Herzegovina, who came to the United States seeking political liberty, religious 

freedom, and economic opportunity.   

24. Most of AIC’s membership are well educated professionals, including some small 

business owners who already have businesses established in Des Plaines.  

25. While AIC has not secured a permanent facility since its establishment, AIC has 

been providing religious worship and education catering to the Muslim community at various 

facilities in Chicago metropolitan area.  AIC aspires to engage their community as full members 

and responsible citizens, with a spirit of tolerance, harmony, and understanding. 

26. From March 2011 to present, AIC has been searching for a permanent facility to 

house all of its religious and educational activities.  Prior to locating the Subject Property, AIC 

only found ten (10) to twelve (12) properties in the northwest suburbs which may have been 

suitable for its activities, but AIC was unable to secure purchase of these properties. 
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27. With respect to the Subject Property, AIC seeks to host the following services for 

its members: 

a. Friday afternoon prayer services (known as Jumah prayer) between 12:00 p.m. 

and 2:00 p.m.
1
 with approximately one hundred (100) to one hundred forty-five 

(145) attendees; 

b. Sunday afternoon prayer services between 12:00 p.m. and 2:00 p.m. with 

approximately twenty-five (25) to fifty (50) attendees; 

c. Thursday evening prayer services between 7:30 p.m. and 9:30 p.m. with 

approximately ten (10) to twenty (20) attendees; 

d. During the month of Ramadan, evening prayers between 7:30 p.m. and 9:30 p.m. 

with approximately fifteen (15) to thirty (30) attendees, except for one night 

which includes one hundred (100) to one hundred fifty (150) attendees; 

e. Two separate holidays per year with prayer services between 5:30 a.m. and 6:30 

a.m. for roughly two (2) hours, with approximately two hundred fifty (250) to 

three hundred (300) attendees; 

f. Friday evening youth group meetings between 7:00 p.m. and 10:00 pm with 

approximately twenty-five (25) to thirty (30) children plus group leaders in 

attendance; 

g. A woman’s group meeting once a week from 7:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m. with 

approximately ten (10) to twenty (20) attendees; 

h. Monthly interfaith organization meetings beginning at 6:00 p.m. and ending at 

8:00 pm with approximately twenty-five (25) to forty (40) attendees; 

                                                           
1
 AIC’s prayer services typically last no longer than one (1) hour.  The times provided herein include 

alternative schedules, depending on whether Daylight Savings Time is applied. 
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i. Saturday school between 9:00 a.m. and 2:00 p.m. with approximately ninety (90) 

to one hundred (100) students, and ten (10) teachers, facilitating religious 

education for youth; 

j. Planned future activities accessory to the proposed use of the Subject Property, 

including ad hoc meetings, guest speakers, and additional educational classes. 

The Subject Property 

28. The Subject Property is situated at 1645 Birchwood Avenue, Des Plaines, Illinois.  

29. On February 6, 2013, AIC secured a contract to purchase the Subject Property, on 

condition that Des Plaines grant a zoning map amendment to authorize AIC’s planned use of the 

property. As a result of the denial by the zoning board the seller has since terminated the 

contract. 

30. The Subject Property is a 1.8 acre parcel of land which has been vacant for more 

than two (2) years.  The property was previously used as commercial office space, and includes 

two (2) one-story buildings connected by lower levels. 

31. AIC’s planned activities will not require major renovations to the existing 

structures on the Subject Property. 

32. Traffic studies were conducted on June 3, 2013, June 14, 2013, and June 28, 

2013, all of which determined that Birchwood Avenue carries a low volume of traffic and has an 

adequate capacity to accommodate AIC’s planned activities.  

33. In the event that AIC does not receive authorization to amend the zoning map to 

allow religious use of the Subject Property, the current owner intends to demolish the buildings 

on the property and convert the land to a parking lot, thereby resulting in no manufacturing 

activity being conducted on the property. 
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34. On information and belief, during the time period that AIC secured the contract 

purchase of the Subject Property to the present, no other property in the City of Des Plaines 

would be suitable for establishing AIC’s planned activities in a permanent location. 

AIC’s Satisfaction of Map Amendment Standard Under Zoning Ordinance 

A. Consistency with Goals, Objectives, and Policies of the Comprehensive Plan 

35. The Plan Commission found that the current Comprehensive Plan recommends 

Mixed Density residential use for the location of the Subject Property.  Places of worship are 

permitted as of right in R-3 and R-4 multifamily residential districts.  As a result, the Plan 

Commission found that AIC’s proposed map amendment would be in accordance with the 

Comprehensive Plan.  

B. Compatibility with the Current Conditions and the Overall Character of 

Existing Developments in the Vicinity 

 

36. The Plan Commission found that while the current conditions include industrial 

and manufacturing, AIC’s proposed use of the Subject Property would not significantly impact 

current parking or traffic conditions, based on the analyses that were conducted by engineering 

experts. 

C. Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services Available to the Subject Property 

37. The Plan Commission found that Des Plaines’ public facilities and services 

provided would be adequate for AIC’s planned activities, and that no expansion of such services 

would be necessary if the zoning map amendment were approved. 

D. Risk of Adverse Effect on the Value of Properties Throughout the 

Jurisdiction 

 

38. AIC’s zoning map amendment remains consistent with the current 

Comprehensive Plan, which explicitly foresees the need for Mixed Density residential use of the 

Subject Property and the surrounding area. 
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39. Based on the uncontroverted studies presented to the Plan Commission, AIC’s 

planned activities on the Subject Property would not significantly impact parking or traffic 

conditions, thus having no adverse effect on the surrounding properties or those throughout the 

jurisdiction. 

E. Responsible Standards Reflected for Development and Growth 

40. The Plan Commission found that the proposed amendment would reflect 

responsible standards for growth based on future land use as a Mixed Density residential 

neighborhood.  

Procedural History 

41. AIC filed its application for a zoning map amendment with the Des Plaines 

Zoning Administrator on or about May 2, 2013. 

42. On or about June 10, 2013, after holding a public hearing on the same day 

regarding AIC’s application, the City of Des Plaines Plan Commission recommended approval 

of the zoning map amendment to the City Council.  The Plan Commission’s recommendation 

was a unanimous vote of the three (3) members of this Commission. 

43. The Plan Commission found, inter alia, that the map amendment would not cause 

significant negative impacts based on the traffic and parking analyses performed.  Further, the 

amendment would not require the expansion of public facilities.  (See Memorandum attached 

hereto as Exhibit A.) 

44. On or about July 15, 2013, the Des Plaines City Council reviewed AIC’s 

application for a zoning map amendment. 

45. After questions and comments from both the Council members and residents, the 

Council failed to approve AIC’s zoning map amendment, with three (3) members voting to 
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approve the map amendment and the five (5) individual Defendants, JAMES BROOKMAN, 

MICHAEL CHAREWICZ, PATRICIA HAUGEBERG, DICK SAYAD, and MARK 

WALSTEN, voting against the amendment. 

46. On or about August 5, 2013, the Des Plaines City Council approved a resolution 

which denied AIC’s proposed zoning map amendment.  The Council’s vote reflected the same 

division of votes as on the July 15, 2013 meeting, with Defendants JAMES BROOKMAN, 

MICHAEL CHAREWICZ, PATRICIA HAUGEBERG, DICK SAYAD, and MARK 

WALSTEN again voting against AIC’s proposed zoning map amendment. 

47. The resolution denying AIC’s proposed map amendment fails to include any 

detailed findings of fact to support Defendants’ decision.  On the contrary, the resolution relies 

on speculative concerns regarding traffic and parking, which were inconsistent with the actual 

findings made by the Plan Commission. 

48. Defendants’ decision to deny AIC’s proposed zoning map amendment was based 

on an arbitrary and capricious rationale, completely disregarding the findings of fact and 

recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

49. Pursuant to the Zoning Ordinance, and Defendants’ final decision issued denying 

AIC’s zoning map amendment, AIC exhausted its administrative remedies prior to filing this 

lawsuit. 

COUNT I 

Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Persons Act of 2000 (RLUIPA): 

Substantial Burden 
 

50. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations in paragraphs one (1) through forty-nine (49) 

as if set forth herein.  Count I is presented against Defendant CITY OF DES PLAINES. 
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51. The CITY OF DES PLAINES’ procedures in its Zoning Ordinance for 

determining map amendments and the Defendants’ activities, acting through City Council, to 

deny the Plaintiff’s map amendment constitutes a “system of land use regulations, under which a 

government makes or has in place formal or informal procedures or practices that permit the 

government to make individualized assessments of the proposed uses for the property involved,” 

within the meaning of Section 2(a)(2)(C) of RLUIPA. 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc(2)(a)(2)(C). 

52. Defendant CITY OF DES PLAINES violated Section 2(a) of RLUIPA, 42 U.S.C. 

§ 2000cc(2)(a), by substantially burdening Plaintiff’s free exercise of religion in its denial of 

Plaintiff’s application for a zoning map amendment of the Subject Property to allow institutional 

uses. 

53.  The CITY OF DES PLAINES has no compelling governmental interest that is 

served by its actions relating to denying Plaintiff’s application for a map amendment. 

54.  Even if the CITY OF DES PLAINES had a compelling governmental interest in 

denying Plaintiff’s use of the property in the manner proposed in the map amendment 

application, the CITY OF DES PLAINES’ decision was not narrowly tailored to achieve its 

governmental interest nor was it the least restrictive means of furthering such interest. 

55. Further, as established above, CITY OF DES PLAINES has no lawful authority to 

deny Plaintiff’s application for a map amendment.  

56. By virtue of the foregoing violations of the RLUIPA, Plaintiff, its officers, 

directors, financial contributors, supporters, members, students, families, teachers, and scholars 

have suffered the following damages: 

a. Loss of free exercise of religion; 

b. Expenses incurred in attempting to secure a map amendment;  
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c. Expenses incurred in maintaining option to purchase the Subject Property; 

and 

d. Expenses incurred by having to secure alternative facilities for religious 

worship and education. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff requests that this Court: 

A. Declare and order that the Defendant CITY OF DES PLAINES’ actions violate 

RLUIPA and are therefore invalid and void as they relate to the Subject Property and prevent 

Plaintiff’s development and use of that property as a religious institution as proposed by the 

Plaintiff in its map amendment application; 

B. Declare and order that Plaintiff shall have the right to develop and use the Subject 

Property in the manner proposed in the map amendment application; 

C. Issue an order of injunction restraining Defendant, CITY OF DES PLAINES, its 

aldermen, agents, employees, and attorneys on a temporary, preliminary, and permanent basis 

from enforcing or endeavoring to enforcing the Ordinance or its regulations so as to prevent 

Plaintiff’s development and use of the Subject Property in the manner proposed in the map 

amendment application; 

D. Issue an order of injunction restraining Defendant, CITY OF DES PLAINES, its 

officers, agents, employees, and attorneys on a temporary, preliminary, and permanent basis 

from interfering in any manner with Plaintiff’s development and use of the Subject Property in 

the manner proposed in the map amendment application; 

E. Issue an order of mandatory injunction directing the CITY OF DES PLAINES to 

approve an amendment to the zoning map that includes the Subject Property; 
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F. Retain jurisdiction to grant relief from any minor building code, zoning, or set 

back requirements that may be imposed by the CITY OF DES PLAINES but do not serve a 

compelling government interest; 

G. Award compensatory damages against Defendant in favor of Plaintiff; 

H. Award Plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees, expenses, and costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 

1988(b); and 

I. Award any other and further damages and relief that this Court deems just or 

necessary. 

COUNT II 

(RLUIPA): Unequal Treatment and Discrimination 

 

57. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations in paragraphs one (1) through fifty-five (55) 

as if set forth herein.  Count II is presented against Defendant CITY OF DES PLAINES. 

58. On information and belief, Defendant CITY OF DES PLAINES imposed a higher 

standard on assessing Plaintiff’s application for a zoning map amendment compared to requests 

of such amendments from secular applicants. 

59. On information and belief, Defendant CITY OF DES PLAINES has granted 

zoning map amendments to secular applicants in circumstances similar to Plaintiff’s application 

for a zoning map amendment, such as when the Plan Commission recommends granting the 

amendment. 

60. When denying Plaintiff’s application for a zoning map amendment, in light of its 

prior zoning map amendments, Defendant CITY OF DES PLAINES imposed its Zoning 

Ordinance in manner which treated a religious institution on less than equal terms than non-

religious institutions, in violation of Section 2(b)(1) of RLUIPA, 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc(2)(b)(1). 
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61. On information and belief, Defendant CITY OF DES PLAINES treated Plaintiff 

less favorably than similarly situated non-Muslim zoning applicants and created pretextual 

reasons for denying Plaintiff’s application, thereby discriminating against Plaintiff on the basis 

of religion, in violation of Section 2(b)(2) of RLUIPA, 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc(2)(b)(2). 

62.  By virtue of the foregoing violations of the RLUIPA, Plaintiff, its officers, 

directors, financial contributors, supporters, members, students, families, teachers, and scholars 

have suffered the following damages: 

a. Loss of free exercise of religion; 

b. Expenses incurred in attempting to secure a map amendment;  

c. Expenses incurred in maintaining option to purchase the Subject Property; 

and 

d. Expenses incurred by having to secure alternative facilities for religious 

worship and education. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff requests that this Court: 

A. Declare and order that the Defendant CITY OF DES PLAINES’ actions violate 

RLUIPA and are therefore invalid and void as they relate to the Subject Property and prevent 

Plaintiff’s development and use of that property as a religious institution as proposed by the 

Plaintiff in its map amendment application; 

B. Declare and order that Plaintiff shall have the right to develop and use the Subject 

Property in the manner proposed in the map amendment application; 

C. Issue an order of injunction restraining Defendant, CITY OF DES PLAINES, its 

aldermen, agents, employees, and attorneys on a temporary, preliminary, and permanent basis 
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from enforcing or endeavoring to enforcing the Ordinance or its regulations so as to prevent 

Plaintiff’s development and use of the Subject Property in the manner proposed in the map 

amendment application; 

D. Issue an order of injunction restraining Defendant, CITY OF DES PLAINES, its 

officers, agents, employees, and attorneys on a temporary, preliminary, and permanent basis 

from interfering in any manner with Plaintiff’s development and use of the Subject Property in 

the manner proposed in the map amendment application; 

E. Issue an order of mandatory injunction directing the CITY OF DES PLAINES to 

approve an amendment to the zoning map that includes the Subject Property; 

F. Retain jurisdiction to grant relief from any minor building code, zoning, or set 

back requirements that may be imposed by the CITY OF DES PLAINES but do not serve a 

compelling government interest; 

G. Award compensatory damages against Defendant in favor of Plaintiff; 

H. Award Plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees, expenses, and costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 

1988(b); and 

I. Award any other and further damages and relief that this Court deems just or 

necessary. 

COUNT III 

Violation of U.S. Constitution Free Exercise Clause – First and Fourteenth Amendments 

 

63. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations in paragraphs one (1) through forty-nine 

(49), fifty-two (52) through fifty-three (53), and fifty-eight (58) through sixty-one (61) as if set 

forth herein. Count III is presented against Defendants CITY OF DES PLAINES, JAMES 

BROOKMAN, MICHAEL CHAREWICZ, PATRICIA HAUGEBERG, DICK SAYAD, and 

MARK WALSTEN. 
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64. The forgoing actions by the Defendants constitute an unlawful impairment and 

burden on the rights of Plaintiff, its officers, directors, financial contributors, supporters, 

members, students, families, teachers, and scholars to the free exercise of religion, in violation of 

the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

65. The acts or omissions alleged herein constitute reckless or callous indifference to 

Plaintiff’s federally protected rights, entitling it to seek punitive damages against the Defendants 

named in their individual capacities. 

66. By virtue of the foregoing violations of the First and Fourteenth Amendments to 

the U.S. Constitution, Plaintiff, its officers, directors, financial contributors, supporters, 

members, students, families, teachers, and scholars have suffered the following damages: 

a. Loss of free exercise of religion; 

b. Expenses incurred in attempting to secure a map amendment;  

c. Expenses incurred in maintaining option to purchase the Subject Property; 

and 

d. Expenses incurred by having to secure alternative facilities for religious 

worship and education. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff requests that this Court: 

A. Declare and order that the Defendants’ actions are invalid, void, and 

unconstitutional and are therefore invalid and void as they relate to the Subject Property and 

prevent Plaintiff’s development and use of that property as a religious institution as proposed by 

the Plaintiff in its map amendment application; 
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B. Declare and order that Plaintiff shall have the right to develop and use the Subject 

Property in the manner proposed in the map amendment application; 

C. Issue an order of injunction restraining Defendant, CITY OF DES PLAINES, its 

aldermen, agents, employees, and attorneys on a temporary, preliminary, and permanent basis 

from enforcing or endeavoring to enforcing the Ordinance or its regulations so as to prevent 

Plaintiff’s development and use of the Subject Property in the manner proposed in the map 

amendment application; 

D. Issue an order of injunction restraining Defendant, CITY OF DES PLAINES, its 

officers, agents, employees, and attorneys on a temporary, preliminary, and permanent basis 

from interfering in any manner with Plaintiff’s development and use of the Subject Property in 

the manner proposed in the map amendment application; 

E. Issue an order of mandatory injunction directing the CITY OF DES PLAINES to 

approve an amendment to the zoning map that includes the Subject Property; 

F. Retain jurisdiction to grant relief from any minor building code, zoning, or set 

back requirements that may be imposed by the CITY OF DES PLAINES but do not serve a 

compelling government interest; 

G. Award compensatory damages against Defendants, and punitive damages against 

Defendants named in their individual capacities, in favor of Plaintiff; 

H. Award Plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees, expenses, and costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 

1988(b); and 

I. Award any other and further damages and relief that this Court deems just or 

necessary. 
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COUNT IV 

Violation of U.S. Constitution Equal Protection Clause – Fourteenth Amendment 
 

67. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations in paragraphs one (1) through forty-nine 

(49), fifty-two (52) through fifty-five (55), and fifty-eight (58) through sixty-one (61) as if set 

forth herein. Count IV is presented against Defendants CITY OF DES PLAINES, JAMES 

BROOKMAN, MICHAEL CHAREWICZ, PATRICIA HAUGEBERG, DICK SAYAD, and 

MARK WALSTEN. 

68. When denying Plaintiff’s application for the zoning map amendment, Defendants 

treated Plaintiff less favorably than similarly situated secular and/or non-Muslim zoning 

applicants and created pretextual reasons for denying Plaintiff’s application, thereby violating the 

Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

69. The acts or omissions alleged herein constitute reckless or callous indifference to 

Plaintiff’s federally protected rights, entitling it to seek punitive damages against the Defendants 

named in their individual capacities. 

70. By virtue of the foregoing violations of the First and Fourteenth Amendments to 

the U.S. Constitution, Plaintiff, its officers, directors, financial contributors, supporters, 

members, students, families, teachers, and scholars have suffered the following damages: 

a. Loss of free exercise of religion; 

b. Expenses incurred in attempting to secure a map amendment;  

c. Expenses incurred in maintaining option to purchase the Subject Property; 

and 

d. Expenses incurred by having to secure alternative facilities for religious 

worship and education. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

A. Declare and order that the Defendants’ actions are invalid, void, and 

unconstitutional and are therefore invalid and void as they relate to the Subject Property and 

prevent Plaintiff’s development and use of that property as a religious institution as proposed by 

the Plaintiff in its map amendment application; 

B. Declare and order that Plaintiff shall have the right to develop and use the Subject 

Property in the manner proposed in the map amendment application; 

C. Issue an order of injunction restraining Defendant, CITY OF DES PLAINES, its 

aldermen, agents, employees, and attorneys on a temporary, preliminary, and permanent basis 

from enforcing or endeavoring to enforcing the Ordinance or its regulations so as to prevent 

Plaintiff’s development and use of the Subject Property in the manner proposed in the map 

amendment application; 

D. Issue an order of injunction restraining Defendant, CITY OF DES PLAINES, its 

officers, agents, employees, and attorneys on a temporary, preliminary, and permanent basis 

from interfering in any manner with Plaintiff’s development and use of the Subject Property in 

the manner proposed in the map amendment application; 

E. Issue an order of mandatory injunction directing the CITY OF DES PLAINES to 

approve an amendment to the zoning map that includes the Subject Property; 

F. Retain jurisdiction to grant relief from any minor building code, zoning, or set 

back requirements that may be imposed by the CITY OF DES PLAINES but do not serve a 

compelling government interest; 

G. Award compensatory damages against Defendants, and punitive damages against 

Defendants named in their individual capacities, in favor of Plaintiff; 
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H. Award Plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees, expenses, and costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 

1988(b); and 

I. Award any other and further damages and relief that this Court deems just or 

necessary. 

COUNT V 

Declaratory Judgment and Injunctive Relief Under Illinois Law 

De Novo Review: 65 ILCS 5/11-13-25 
 

71. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations in paragraphs one (1) through forty-nine (49) 

as if set forth herein.  Count V is presented against Defendant CITY OF DES PLAINES. 

72. Based on the foregoing facts, there is an actual controversy between the parties 

that is likely to be redressed by court action, in that Plaintiff has an interest in using the Subject 

Property for religious worship and educational purposes, and Defendant CITY OF DES 

PLAINES has opposed this interest. 

73. Plaintiff’s proposed use of the Subject Property as a religious institution fully 

satisfies the requirements of the Zoning Ordinance.  The map amendment is consistent with the 

goals, objectives, and policies of the 2007 Comprehensive Plan, compatible with the current 

conditions and the overall character of existing developments in the immediate vicinity of the 

Subject Property, would not require additional public facilities or services or have an adverse 

effect on the value of properties, and reflects responsible standards for development and growth. 

74. Section 11-13-25 of the Illinois Municipal Code, 65 ILCS 5/11-13-25, provides 

that any decision by the corporate authorities of any municipality regarding a rezoning 

application or an amendment to the zoning ordinance shall be subject to de novo judicial review 

as a legislative decision.   
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75. Defendants’ actions, acting through the City Council to deny Plaintiff’s 

application for a map amendment, was arbitrary, capricious, unreasonable, malicious, 

unconstitutional, against the manifest weight of the evidence presented to the City Council, and 

in violation of the municipal zoning enabling statutes of the State of Illinois (65 ILCS 5/11-13-1 

et. seq.), when Plaintiff’s proposed use of the Subject Property meets the standards set forth in 

Section 3.7-5 of the Ordinance. 

76. By virtue of the foregoing violations, Plaintiff, its officers, directors, financial 

contributors, supporters, members, students, families, teachers, and scholars have suffered the 

following damages: 

a. Loss of free exercise of religion; 

b. Expenses incurred in attempting to secure a map amendment;  

c. Expenses incurred in maintaining option to purchase the Subject Property; 

and 

d. Expenses incurred by having to secure alternative facilities for religious 

worship and education. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff requests that this Court: 

A. Declare and order that the Defendant CITY OF DES PLAINES’ actions are 

invalid, void, and unconstitutional and are therefore invalid and void as they relate to the Subject 

Property and prevent Plaintiff’s development and use of that property as a religious institution as 

proposed by Plaintiff in its map amendment application; 

B. Declare and order that Plaintiff shall have the right to develop and use the Subject 

Property in the manner proposed in the map amendment application; 
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C. Issue an order of injunction restraining Defendant, CITY OF DES PLAINES, its 

aldermen, agents, employees, and attorneys on a temporary, preliminary, and permanent basis 

from enforcing or endeavoring to enforcing the Ordinance or its regulations so as to prevent 

Plaintiff’s development and use of the Subject Property in the manner proposed in the map 

amendment application; 

D. Issue an order of injunction restraining Defendant, CITY OF DES PLAINES, its 

officers, agents, employees, and attorneys on a temporary, preliminary, and permanent basis 

from interfering in any manner with Plaintiff’s development and use of the Subject Property in 

the manner proposed in the map amendment application; 

E. Issue an order of mandatory injunction directing the CITY OF DES PLAINES to 

approve an amendment to the zoning map that includes the Subject Property; 

F. Retain jurisdiction to grant relief from any minor building code, zoning, or set 

back requirements that may be imposed by the CITY OF DES PLAINES but do not serve a 

compelling government interest; and 

G. Award any other and further damages and relief that this Court deems just or 

necessary, including a just and proper assessment of corresponding prospective relief to (1) 

enjoin further violations, (2) return funds paid to the City during the process, and (3) make all 

declarations necessary to allow the use to proceed. 

COUNT VI 

Illinois Religious Freedom Restoration Act (RFRA) 

 

77. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations in paragraphs one (1) through forty-nine (49) 

and seventy-three (73) through seventy-five (75) as if set forth herein.  Count VI is presented 

against Defendant CITY OF DES PLAINES. 
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78.  Section 15 of RFRA provides that no government in the State of Illinois may 

substantially burden a person’s exercise of religion “unless it demonstrates that application of the 

burden to the person (i) is in furtherance of a compelling governmental interest and (ii) is the 

least restrictive means of furthering that compelling governmental interest.” 775 ILCS 35/15. 

79. Defendants substantially burdened the religious exercise of the Plaintiff, its 

officers, directors, financial contributors, supporters, members, students, families, teachers, and 

scholars, by denying Plaintiff’s application for a zoning map amendment of the Subject Property 

to allow institutional uses. 

80. The CITY OF DES PLAINES has no compelling governmental interest that is 

served by its actions relating to denying Plaintiff’s application for a map amendment. 

81. Even if the CITY OF DES PLAINES had a compelling governmental interest in 

denying Plaintiff’s use of the property in the manner proposed in the map amendment 

application, the CITY OF DES PLAINES’ decision was not narrowly tailored to achieve its 

governmental interest nor was it the least restrictive means of furthering such interest. 

82. Further, as established above, Defendant has no lawful authority to deny 

Plaintiff’s application for a map amendment. 

83. By virtue of the foregoing violations of the RFRA, Plaintiff, its officers, directors, 

financial contributors, supporters, members, students, families, teachers, and scholars have 

suffered the following damages: 

a. Loss of free exercise of religion; 

b. Expenses incurred in attempting to secure a map amendment;  

c. Expenses incurred in maintaining option to purchase the Subject Property; 

and 
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d. Expenses incurred by having to secure alternative facilities for religious 

worship and education. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff requests that this Court: 

A. Declare and order that the Defendant CITY OF DES PLAINES’ actions violate 

RFRA and are therefore invalid and void as they relate to the Subject Property and prevent 

Plaintiff’s development and use of that property as a religious institution as proposed by the 

Plaintiff in its map amendment application; 

B. Declare and order that Plaintiff shall have the right to develop and use the Subject 

Property in the manner proposed in the map amendment application; 

C. Issue an order of injunction restraining Defendant, CITY OF DES PLAINES, its 

aldermen, agents, employees, and attorneys on a temporary, preliminary, and permanent basis 

from enforcing or endeavoring to enforcing the Ordinance or its regulations so as to prevent 

Plaintiff’s development and use of the Subject Property in the manner proposed in the map 

amendment application; 

D. Issue an order of injunction restraining Defendant, CITY OF DES PLAINES, its 

officers, agents, employees, and attorneys on a temporary, preliminary, and permanent basis 

from interfering in any manner with Plaintiff’s development and use of the Subject Property in 

the manner proposed in the map amendment application; 

E. Issue an order of mandatory injunction directing the CITY OF DES PLAINES to 

approve an amendment to the zoning map that includes the Subject Property; 
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F. Retain jurisdiction to grant relief from any minor building code, zoning, or set 

back requirements that may be imposed by the CITY OF DES PLAINES but do not serve a 

compelling government interest; 

G. Award compensatory damages against Defendant in favor of Plaintiff; 

H. Award Plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees, expenses, and costs pursuant to 775 ILCS 

35/20; and 

I. Award any other and further damages and relief that this Court deems just or 

necessary. 

COUNT VII 

Violation of Free Exercise Clause of Illinois Constitution Article I, Section 3 
 

84. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations in paragraphs one (1) through forty-nine (49) 

and seventy-three (73) through seventy-five (75) as if set forth herein.  Count VII is presented 

against Defendant CITY OF DES PLAINES.  

85. The forgoing actions by the Defendants constitute an unlawful impairment and 

burden on the rights of Plaintiff, its officers, directors, financial contributors, supporters, 

members, students, families, teachers, and scholars to the free exercise of religion, in violation of 

Article I, Section 3 of the Illinois Constitution.  

86. By virtue of the foregoing violations of the Free Exercise Clause of Illinois 

Constitution Article I, Section 3, Plaintiff, its officers, directors, financial contributors, 

supporters, members, students, families, teachers, and scholars have suffered the following 

damages: 

a. Loss of free exercise of religion; 

b. Expenses incurred in attempting to secure a map amendment;  
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c. Expenses incurred in maintaining option to purchase the Subject Property; 

and 

d. Expenses incurred by having to secure alternative facilities for religious 

worship and education. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff requests that this Court: 

A. Declare and order that the Defendant CITY OF DES PLAINES’ actions are 

invalid, void, and unconstitutional and are therefore invalid and void as they relate to the Subject 

Property and prevent Plaintiff’s development and use of that property as a religious institution as 

proposed by Plaintiff in its map amendment application; 

B. Declare and order that Plaintiff shall have the right to develop and use the Subject 

Property in the manner proposed in the map amendment application; 

C. Issue an order of injunction restraining Defendant, CITY OF DES PLAINES, its 

aldermen, agents, employees, and attorneys on a temporary, preliminary, and permanent basis 

from enforcing or endeavoring to enforcing the Ordinance or its regulations so as to prevent 

Plaintiff’s development and use of the Subject Property in the manner proposed in the map 

amendment application; 

D. Issue an order of injunction restraining Defendant, CITY OF DES PLAINES, its 

officers, agents, employees, and attorneys on a temporary, preliminary, and permanent basis 

from interfering in any manner with Plaintiff’s development and use of the Subject Property in 

the manner proposed in the map amendment application; 

E. Issue an order of mandatory injunction directing the CITY OF DES PLAINES to 

approve an amendment to the zoning map that includes the Subject Property; 
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F. Retain jurisdiction to grant relief from any minor building code, zoning, or set 

back requirements that may be imposed by the CITY OF DES PLAINES but do not serve a 

compelling government interest; and 

G. Award any other and further damages and relief that this Court deems just or 

necessary, including a just and proper assessment of corresponding prospective relief to (1) 

enjoin further violations, (2) return funds paid to the City during the process, and (3) make all 

declarations necessary to allow the use to proceed. 

JURY TRIAL DEMAND 

87. Plaintiff requests a jury trial on all questions of fact and law raised by the 

Complaint. 

      Respectfully submitted, 

      AMERICAN ISLAMIC CENTER, Plaintiff, 

 

         

           

     By:     /s/ Anthony J. Peraica _____________ 

         Anthony J. Peraica, Attorney for Plaintiff 

 

 

 

ANTHONY J. PERAICA, ARDC NO.: 6186661 

ANTHONY J. PERAICA & ASSOCIATES, LTD.  

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF   

5130 SOUTH ARCHER AVENUE 

CHICAGO, ILLINOIS  60632 

773-735-1700 

 

Kevin Vodak 

Attorney #6270773 

Council on American-Islamic Relations,  

Chicago Chapter (CAIR-Chicago) 

17 North State Street, Suite 1500 

Chicago, Illinois 60602 

Ph: 312.212.1520 

Fax: 312.212.1530                            
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